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PREFACE TO THE 1989 EDITION


P. BERRESFORD ELLIS


WHEN MY CO-AUTHOR, the late Seumas Mac a’Ghobhainn and I wrote our study of the 1820 uprising, first published in April 1970, we knew that we were exploring ‘virgin territory’. No full-length study of the uprising had ever been attempted; in fact, hardly anyone in Scotland had even heard of the event. It had been deleted almost entirely from the Scottish historical consciousness. This major radical uprising is still overshadowed by the lesser affair of the 1819 ‘Peterloo’ massacre in Manchester. One of the reasons that we felt obvious efforts had been made to ‘edit’ the events from Scottish history was the fact that the rising contained a national content, for it was the intention of the radicals to establish an independent Scottish Parliament – an objective that was unacceptable to the Establishment and its historians. While we realised that we were revealing an important piece of ‘hidden history’, we were scarcely prepared for the interest which the publication of the book generated. According to the publishers, the book became ‘the most reviewed book of 1970’ and, at the time of publication, five newspapers, including one London daily and two Scottish dailies, published extracts from it.


Within months the 1820 Commemorative Committee had been formed by prominent Scottish politicians, historians and literary figures. Seumas Mac a’ Ghobhainn was elected honorary president of the committee in the following year. The first commemorative gathering in modern times was organised by the committee at the monument in Sighthill Cemetery, Glasgow, to the executed leaders John



Baird and Andrew Hardie in September 1970. We were invited to deliver a short address.


The ‘1820’ began to be mentioned in general histories of Scotland, commencing with a reference in John Prebble’s The Lion in the North (Secker and Warburg, 1971), which made full acknowledgement to our researches. Other books and studies have been less generous in acknowledging our efforts; works such as Tom Steel’s 24-episode Scottish Television production ‘Scotland’s Story’, shown on Channel Four in 1984. In programme fourteen, the rise of Scottish republicanism and the 1820 were dealt with. The series was accompanied by a tie-in book of the same name published by William Collins.


In 1973 a play concerning ‘1820’ was produced by the Glasgow Citizens’ Theatre which also acknowledged our work, although a video produced by the ‘Baird and Hardie Society’ in 1986 made no such acknowledgement, presumably because the producers argued that ‘1820’ was a manifestation of ‘British’ radicalism and failed to mention the nationalist aims of the ‘1820’.


Within a decade a new primary school at Condorrat, near Cumbernauld, the home of the executed John Baird, was named ‘The Baird Memorial School’ by the local council, then controlled by the Scottish National Party.


The 1820 Commemorative Committee gave way to the 1820 Society. From 1985 this society became extremely active in seeking to preserve the 1820 monuments, particularly the one at Sighthill Cemetery, in gathering artefacts connected with the uprising and with pursing a campaign urging the Scottish Education Department to revise the teaching of Scottish history in Scottish schools so that children could learn about such events.


The society achieved some astonishing successes. Most notable was the recognition by a Tory Secretary of State for Scotland, George Younger, of the Sighthill monument as an important historical site (Glasgow Herald, 3 January 1986) and its listing as a Scottish historical monument. Later that year the monument was restored at a cost of £10,000 and unveiled before 5,000 people on 31 October, thanks to



a campaign by the society. The actual campaign to raise the money for the restoration proved to be something of a drama in itself. The society had launched an appeal for money at a public rally in July 1985. In November the City of Glasgow District Council offered to put up £5,000 towards the appeal on condition that the 1820 Society were able to raise a similar sum. This provoked a great deal of criticism from Tory politicians and press which receded slightly after the Secretary of State for Scotland announced the listing of the monument.


But, early in 1986, the Council seemed to hesitate.


The monument had been erected by Chartists in 1847 to mark the spot where the remains of Baird and Hardie had been re-interred (described here). Now the accuracy of the book was called into question when the Parks and Recreation Committee of the Council claimed this was not so: ‘Hardie and Baird are not interred there’ (Council Minutes, Print 4, 1985/86, here, item 14). They based this claim on the fact ‘there is no known reference in the cemetery records’. The energetic press officer of the 1820 Society, Councillor James Mitchell, a Scottish National Party representative on Renfrew District Council, said: ‘We were shaken to be told by the Council that the working class martyrs we seek to honour are not buried there. We think we have irrefutable evidence to show that Baird and Hardie are indeed interred there …’ (Glasgow Herald, November 1985).


The 1820 Society, accepting the evidence presented in this book, called for an official exhumation of the site to ascertain if the remains of Baird and Hardie were there. The call was supported by SOGAT ’82, which had been formed out of the Bookbinders Consolidated Union. SOGAT ’82 were also concerned to prove that the Glasgow bookbinder, Andrew White, whose death sentence for his part in 1820 had been commuted to transportation, had been buried at the same site when he died on 27 December 1872.


On Monday 24 March, bowing to pressure caused by the ensuing publicity, Glasgow Council agreed on an exhumation because ‘it is



considered that the positive identification of the resting place of the 1820 Martyrs is of significant importance in terms of Scottish history, being more important (although much less publicised and known) than the Tolpuddle Martyrs’.


Another Scottish historian entered the argument in support of our contention. Michael Donnelly, the assistant curator of the Glasgow working people’s museum, the People’s Palace, also argued that the evidence that Baird and Hardie were buried at the monument was ‘irrefutable’. He pointed to the letter from the Lord Advocate in 1847 (quoted here) and the fact that the latter is also reproduced on the monument itself. Below this is carved the words:





In accordance with these instructions, exhumation took place at an early hour on July 20, 1847 and the remains reinterred in front of this monument on the same day in the presence of a considerable number of friends.





Below this are the words: ‘Here they Rest.’


The carvings are on the far side of the monument to the face normally viewed by the public and had not, of course, been examined by representatives of the Council.


On Thursday, 10 April 1986, the exhumation was carried out in the presence of Jack Fuller, chairman of the 1820 Society, Councillor James Mitchell and society members G. Smith and J. Beveridge. The press and media were in attendence but were kept away from the actual exhumation, which was covered by tarpaulins. The remains were discovered exactly where this book stated them to be. The following day The Scotsman was representative of the reports which appeared in the newspapers and media: ‘Doubts concerning the last resting place of two national martyrs who were hanged for leading the Scottish insurrection of 1820 have been dispelled.’


Indeed, initially Glasgow Council admitted ‘it is possible to accept the fact that the remains of the coffins found there did contain the



remains of Baird and Hardie’. Then, on 4 August 1986, they changed their positive stance to accept the recommendation of the Director of Parks and Recreation for the records to show the wording ‘The remains of Baird and Hardie appear to have been interred in front of the Martyrs’ Monument.’


In subsequent interviews, I felt able to welcome the findings of the exhumation as reported in the press and media as exonerating the accuracy of this book but had to point out that Glasgow Council in their official record were performing a disservice to future historians and the people of Scotland.


There has never been any doubt except the doubt created by the ‘pussyfooting’ attitude of Glasgow Council. In view of the overwhelming evidence, the Glasgow City Council owe it to future generations of Scots and Scottish historians to make it clear that the last resting place of Baird and Hardie is in Sighthill Cemetery.


Glasgow Council, however, kept its promise to meet the £5,000 towards the renovation of the monument and several other councils joined in, such as Strathclyde, which gave £1,500 and Renfrew, which gave £200, a sum strongly protested against by the five Tory councillors who claimed the donation was illegal under the Local Government (Scotland) Act of 1973. The council’s legal adviser eventually had to reassure them on this point. Even so, things did not go smoothly with the restoration and on 25 September 1986, the Glasgow Evening Times reported that the carving of a head from the monument had been broken off and stolen. It was obviously a piece of political vandalism for which no one claimed responsibility.


The unveiling of the monument on 31 October was followed by a civic reception in the Glasgow City council chamber and the opportunity was taken to launch a campaign pressing the Scottish Education Department for a review of the way Scottish history was taught in schools, particularly for the inclusion of the facts of ‘1820’ in history books.


With Glasgow Council making the decision to re-name George Place after the South African, Nelson Mandela, the 1820 Society



began to lobby the Council to commemorate Scotland’s own political martyrs and rename George Square (named after the profligate George III, monarch in 1820) ‘1820 Square’. The Council rejected the suggestion but, once again conceding to pressure brought by the society, decided, on 22 August 1986, ‘in principle’ to name a street after Baird and Hardie. The society at once pointed out that there were several streets already bearing the names Baird and Hardie, named after people not connected with the leaders of the rising, and suggesting that at least the forenames be added so that, in future, people could recognise the streets as those named after the 1820 leaders. This was also rejected and the Council left it to the planning committee to make suitable proposals. The Glasgow Evening Times, 6 October 1986, reported that the planning committee had refused to consult the 1820 Society on suitable streets, those having some connection with the uprising, and, indeed, had proposed Springburn Road as ‘Baird and Hardie Way’. Protests were made when it was discovered that Springburn Road would soon be relegated to a slipway for a motorway route. No more progress has been made in the matter.


One point that became obvious not long after the first publication of this book was that much additional material concerning the fate of individuals caught up in the insurrection could be brought to light. We were almost immediately contacted by descendants of those transported to Australia. In 1972 Peter Walker of Kinnoull found a series of letters written by his great-great grand-uncle, Alexander Hart, who had fought at Bonnymuir, was badly wounded, sentenced to death and then had his sentence commuted to transportation. Hart died in Australia at the age of 90. Walker published some of the letters in the Scots Independent, May 1972.


The keyed bugle carried by James Black at Bonnymuir came to light in private hands in 1986. Black (mentioned here) was badly wounded at Bonnymuir but succeeded in making a spectacular escape from a window after being made prisoner. George Wilson, a lecturer at the West of Scotland Agricultural College at Auchencruive,



wrote to the 1820 Society to tell how the bugle had been handed down in his family from his ancestor, James Black, together with the story of how it was carried to rally the insurgents during the uprising.


Perhaps the most macabre items to come to light are the cloak and axe of the public executioner who decapitated Baird and Hardie at Stirling Castle. The items are kept at Stirling although, in 1986, they went on exhibition at Edinburgh’s City Art Centre.


The John Hastie Museum in Strathaven, one of the centres of radicalism and the home of the executed James Wilson, now has an excellent section devoted to the uprising. East Kilbride District Council, in which Strathaven lies, recently issued a pamphlet life of Wilson for distribution at the museum.


Curiously, the 1820 Society were criticised for ignoring James Wilson by concentrating on the Baird and Hardie monument. But, in fact, the society had been active in holding commemorations at the radical memorial in Woodside Cemetery, near where it was thought Wilson had been buried. After Wilson’s execution he had been buried in a pauper’s grave at Glasgow High Church but his daughter, Mrs Lilias Walters, and his niece, Mrs Ritchie, had the remains dug up and secretly interred in the Strathaven parish church as detailed here of this book.


The 1820 Society promised to attempt to track down the exact location of Wilson’s last resting place. In November 1986, David Jackson of Rutherglen, a descendant of Wilson’s wife’s family, began research with the help of the society, who gave him a small grant. He subsequently found an entry in the Avondale Parish Register which referred to the reinterrment of Wilson’s body ‘in the second breadth of the east length of the cemetery’ (Hamilton Advertiser, 5 December 1986). The grave was found in 1990 (see here).


Among other finds which have come to light is the fact that the centenary of the ‘1820’ was commemorated by members of the Independent Labour Party on 5 September 1920, at a ceremony at Sighthill. An added inscription on the sandstone of the monument



had been almost obliterated, but the staff of Glasgow’s Mitchell Library discovered the text of the inscription and the fact of the gathering in an ILP news-sheet of 11 September 1920 (Glasgow Herald, 5 June 1986).


Other, more important, discoveries have come to light. Perhaps one of the most important finds has been that of some of the original treason trial documents. Here of this book we note that the records for the trials seemed to have disappeared and our extensive searches had proved negative. Curiously, we discovered that all the records apart from one or two items which had, at the time, been lodged in a ‘Baga de Secretis’, which we tracked down to the London Public Records Office (PRO KB 8), had been removed.


In 1983 Dr Athol L. Murray, Keeper of the Records of Scotland, discovered some of the trial documents among a mass of unsorted material which had been transmitted to the Scottish Records Office from the High Court of Judiciary. Writing to inform me of this find, Dr Murray said: ‘My impression was that these documents add little to the material already available in the printed reports and your own book.’ Dr Murray felt that ‘it does not look as though there was any deliberate attempt to suppress these records. The explanation is probably that, because the trials had not taken place under normal Justiciary procedures, the records did not fit into any of the existing series and were put to one side and forgotten. This is quite a common occurrence with records of all types!’


The trials for High Treason were actually held under English Law and not Scottish Law, contravening the Treaty of Union of 1707.


These records are now held by the Scottish Record Office, referenced as ‘JC 21’.


However, some new aspects are revealed by this material. It appears that John Walters, James Wilson’s son-in-law, husband to Lilias Walters, was imprisoned in June/July 1820, but released after a Writ of Capias issued against him was ‘not found’.


The documents also show that Sir William Rae, the Lord Advocate, was somewhat premature in announcing the termination of the High



Treason trials in August 1820 (here). In March 1821 there were still several radicals jailed without trial, including George Gillies and Moses Gilfillan of Stirling, against whom true bills had been found in July 1820 (see here). Amongst the prisoners were the Strathaven leader Robert Hamilton and his companion John Morrison, the ex-army veteran. Walter Provan, Matthew Logan, Alexander Cameron and Peter Ferguson, all from Lanark, were also in jail. On 21 March 1821, Writs of Capias were issued against them in a half-hearted attempt to institute new treason trials, but all were returned ‘not found’. Had Scottish juries finally grown sick of the ‘mummery’, the demand for more state victims to strike fear into the people? Certainly, in logical terms, there was more evidence for treasonable intent against Robert Hamilton, who had for a while led his men towards Cathkin armed with a sword, than there was against the executed Wilson, who served under him.


Another interesting sidelight which turned up in the records of ‘The Greenock Infirmary’ (privately published, no date, here), was a reference to a banquet held in 1832 to celebrate the passing of the Reform Act. A toast was drunk ‘to the memory of Alan Ker’, a juryman at one of the treason trials, ‘who,’ it was said, ‘by his refusal to bring in a verdict of ‘‘guilty’’ despite extreme pressure from the Bench, had saved two of the Paisley radicals on trial for high treason on August 1, 1820’. This was the trial of James Speirs and John Lang, described here. The same source refers to a riot in Greenock in 1821 which took place on the anniversary of the day in 1820 when regular soldiers opened fire on an unarmed Greenock crowd, killing and wounding many. During the 1821 commemoration of this event it was reported that placards were placed on street corners calling for ‘Revenge’ and ‘Blood for Blood’.


There are still many aspects of the insurrection of 1820 which deserve further research. Such study may be under way, for in 1987 it was announced that Dr John Brims, former research assistant at the National Library of Scotland, had been awarded a three-year



Glenfiddich Fellowship at St Andrews University to conduct research into the insurrection.


One intriguing question which long frustrated my co-author and myself was the fate of the members of the 28-man Committee for Organising a Provisional Government, who were arrested in Glasgow on 21 March 1820. The letters by the Glasgow police chief refer to their arrest and imprisonment. The last that is known about them is that they were still being held incommunicado in Glasgow jail in November 1820. Here we asked the obvious question. Why were they not charged with High Treason? We know that some of the committee, such as John King, who left the meeting only minutes before the arrest took place, must have been Government agents provocateurs. But what of the others? What of their fate?


During our researches we fully expected the answer to lie in the ‘Baga de Secretis’ where records, reports and letters connected with the affair had been deposited. But, as we discovered, most of the documentation after 1817 had been removed from that repository some time after 1820. One could spend much time speculating on the reason for this removal. No further reference to the committee has, so far, been discovered.


The Scottish poet, Hamish Henderson, commented in The Scotsman (11 July 1986): ‘These individuals have disappeared, as it were, into a black hole of history, even their identity is uncertain.’ Mr Henderson continues:





This is astounding. Prisoners invariably have relatives and friends who try to keep their plight before the public eye. Every last detail relating to the ‘Bonnymuir rebels’ transported to New South Wales had been ferreted out and put on record by Margaret and Alastair Macfarlane in their book The Scottish Radicals. But of the fate of the ‘Provisional’ Committee nothing, but nothing is known.





Hamish Henderson puts forward his own theory, one I find totally acceptable in the circumstances.







Ever since the time of Sir Francis Walsingham, successive English Governments have paid well-funded attention to the securing of underground political intelligence. When the authorities began to interrogate the arrested Committee members, they may well have discovered a ‘Man Who Was Thursday’ situation. Did the Committee consist, more or less in its entirety, of members of two or more rival intelligence organisations who were mutually unknown to each other, and had been ‘jollying each other along’? If so, the Government would have had no alternative but to allow them to drift discreetly into obscurity.


Nobody reading the account of the antics of the Government spies King, Turner, Craig and Lees, as described by Messrs Berresford Ellis and Mac a’ Ghobhainn in their book on the Rising, will be disposed to dismiss this speculation as totally fantastic or incredible.





One of the greatest research breakthroughs on the ‘1820’ would be the discovery of a solution to the conundrum of the fate of the committee. Neither the Macfarlane book, The Scottish Radicals (1982) nor Thomis and Holt’s Threats of Revolution in Britain 1789–1848 (1978), which discussed the ‘1820’ in Chapter 3, have actually come up with any new research material on the subject. Indeed, Thomis and Holt seem to go out of their way to ignore research material already available. Hamish Henderson has observed that Thomis and Holt seem oddly eager to play down the role of agents provocateurs in the lead-up to the rising. In fact they claim (here) that the charge of infiltration by Government agents into the Radicals ‘is a piece of nonsense, as far as Scotland is concerned’. Henderson has pointed out: ‘Unfortunately they pay scant attention to a good deal of hard evidence, and even make light of such a cool and accurate observer as Cockburn that ‘‘there had been the secret agency of some in fomenting the treason’’.’ In fact, they base their argument on the statement (here) that ‘Castlereagh denied any Government involvement’. The only intelligent rejoinder to that has to be: he would, wouldn’t he? After all, one remembers the part Castlereagh played in trying to



provoke a premature rising in Ireland in 1797 by means of agents provocateurs. How, through a Government espionage system, he built up reactionary organisations and merciless dragonnades against the Protestant Republicans of Ulster. Castlereagh was, in the words of Lord Byron:





Cold blooded, smooth-faced, placid miscreant!


Dabbling its sleek young hands in Erin’s gore –





One can hardly take his word at face value.


Thomis and Holt try to convince their readers that John King was not a Government agent. ‘Attempts have been made to argue that the Bonnymuir rebels had within their own number a certain John King who had been retained by the authorities’, say Thomis and Holt, ‘and who directed the authorities to where the insurgents were resting … The flight of King before the rebel army marched out to the battle site is no proof of his complicity, but suggests rather that he was by this time a disillusioned conspirator who fled on realising that he had been misled by false hopes of a mass rising’ (here).


Hamish Henderson argues: ‘Nobody in a position to evaluate the existing evidence will be inclined to give this ‘disillusioned conspirator’ theory an instant’s credence.’ Indeed, Thomis and Holt give the impression that they had not read this volume with care or, doing so, they simply chose to ignore the facts presented. Andrew Hardie wrote a letter, while awaiting execution, which gives a detailed account of the events leading up to Bonnymuir. He first met the enigmatic King, who was always out ahead of everyone else, and always promising reinforcements which never turned up, in Condorrat at or near the home of John Baird. ‘When we found him [Baird] there was one King had been waiting with him, upon us coming forward. This King belongs to Glasgow, but what he is I do not know, but this I know, that he acted a very unbecoming part with us. King had told Baird that there was a party of two hundred well-armed men coming out, and that they were all old soldiers.’




Hardie went on: ‘King left us at Condorrat, and went before us on the pretext of getting the Camelon and Falkirk people ready by the time we should be forward.’ In his statement, Hardie also makes it plain that King actually selected the site of the battle. ‘[He] said that we should have to go up on the moor, and wait there until we got a reinforcement from Camelon.’


Hamish Henderson believes that there can be no doubt that, as Andrew Hardie so succinctly put it towards the end of his letter, ‘we were outwitted and betrayed’. He says that ‘this narrative speaks for itself’ but, in addition, in the poem which Hardie wrote in Stirling awaiting death, his suspicion of King is made absolutely explicit. Hamish Henderson adds: ‘Revealingly, the poem borrows its measure, and, so to speak, its verbal cue, from the old nursery rhyme:





There was a man of double deed


Who sowed a garden full of seed.’





The poem is given in full in Appendix 3 of this volume.


There is much more work to be done on ‘1820’ in terms of extending our knowledge of the event by the gathering of more information and particularly, as I have already said, tracing the mystery of the fate of the ‘Provisional’ Committee. However, it is very exciting to look at the developments which have taken place since this book was first published. At that time people were astounded that such an event, resulting in 85 indictments of High Treason, in public executions, in transportations and imprisonments, could have been so effectively eliminated from historical consciousness. It is exciting to see the new awareness, the enthusiasm of the 1820 Society, and the new research endeavours. Although this book remains the only full-length study of the insurrection, it is to be hoped, along with the activities of the 1820 Society, that this new edition will help sustain the attempts to place ‘1820’ firmly in the history books. It provides a very necessary corrective to the Scottish historical mythology manufactured by Sir Walter Scott and it makes historical sense out of the later movements of



Scottish nationalism, its republican outlook and of ‘Clydeside Socialism’.


Ensuring that people know their history, and can learn from their history so that they are not condemned to perpetuate it, was one of the aspirations of my co-author, the late Seumas Mac a’ Ghobhainn. Seumas died aged only 57 years on 21 January 1987. As an historian, an author and a journalist, Seumas was firmly dedicated to the Scottish Gaelic language – Gàidhlig, as he always insisted in correctly spelling it. He was the leading figure behind the foundation of Comunn na Cànain Albannaich – the Scottish Language Society – formed in 1969. The publication ROSC said in 1972: ‘If the Scottish Gaelic language survives into the 21st Century it will be mainly thanks to the efforts of this tenacious Scotsman who, over the past ten years, has been a veritable one-man national cultural movement.’


Before his death Seumas expressed the wish that his ashes should be scattered at the 1820 monument in Sighthill. On 11 February 1987, it fell to me to perform that melancholy task. Members of the 1820 Society, Seumas’ friends and admirers of his work, gathered as his remains were piped to the monument to the tune of ‘The Flowers of the Forest’. Reverend John Prentice of the Martyrs Church of Scotland, Paisley, performed the religious rites. There were several speeches, but Councillor James Mitchell summed up the general feeling that it was more than fitting for Seumas’ remains to be scattered at the monument which he, more than anyone, had worked so tirelessly to bring to the notice of his fellow countrymen. As the tribute on the wreath from the 1820 Society read: ‘His name will ever live in Scottish history as co-discoverer of the facts of 1820. His loss has bereft Scotland of a modest but great man.’











PREFACE TO THE 2001 EDITION


P. BERRESFORD ELLIS


OVER THIRTY YEARS have passed since this book was first published but, surprisingly – at least in my opinion – it has remained the only full-length study of the last major Scottish insurrection.


Yet many studies on aspects of the event have been produced since 1970 and the 1820 Society, formed when this book was first published, continues to be an active and growing organisation, encouraging research, campaigning and organising annual commemorations at the monuments to those who were executed or transported in its aftermath. Some of the Society’s early achievements are mentioned in the Preface to the 1989 edition.


In 1990 the Society was able to track down the site where the remains of the executed James Wilson had been reinterred in Strathaven Cemetery and persuaded the East Kilbride Council to raise a memorial on his previously unmarked grave. In 1993, the Society secured the agreement of Glasgow Council to erect a new plaque on the 1820 Sighthill Monument listing the names of the 19 Radicals, originally sentenced to death, but later transported to Botany Bay.


Our knowledge of the event and the personalities involved has continued to expand. Prior to this volume’s first appearance, the events of April 1820 had almost been deleted from Scottish history. Even after publication, the event was regarded with some discomfiture by certain sections of academia. Perhaps there was a feeling of guilt that such an important event had previously been ignored by



historians. In an apparent attempt to justify this, a few scholars have tried to downplay the insurrection and its significance.


Two aspects of the rising seem to particularly increase scholastic discomfiture.


Firstly, the fact that it was an aim of the Scottish Radicals to set up a separate parliament in Edinburgh has been met with sceptical posturing. Yet this aim was clearly spelt out by Glasgow Police Chief, James Mitchell, in his letters to the Home Secretary, Lord Sidmouth, of March 18 and 29, 1820.


Secondly, a few scholars, such as James D. Young in The Rousing of the Scottish Working Class (1979), and, more recently, Tom Devine in The Scottish Nation 1700–2000 (1999), have baulked at accepting any widespread involvement of Government agents provocateurs in instigating the rising. Again, this is simply a denial of clear primary source evidence.


Some writers have taken more positive attitudes. James Halliday’s excellent short study, The 1820 Rising, appeared in 1993. Dr Martin Mitchell, in his book The Irish in the West of Scotland 1797–1848 (1998), has raised interesting questions on the extent to which immigrant Irish weavers may have been involved. The close connections between the Irish and Scottish republican movements during the 1790s is well documented.


There have been at least two unpublished PhD theses on 1820. In the 1989 Preface I also mentioned that Dr John Brims had been given a three-year Glenfiddich Fellowship at St Andrews University in 1987 to conduct research into the insurrection. Apart from an unpublished thesis in Edinburgh entitled ‘The Scottish Democratic Movement in the Age of the French Revolution’ and a chapter on the Scottish republicans of the 1790s in Conflict and Stability in Scottish Society 1700–1850, edited by Tom Devine (John Donald, 1990), nothing further seems to have been heard of the results of this research.


I have updated the bibliography of this book to include some of the latest studies. Yet there are still many areas to be explored. New



papers and documents continue to come to light which increase our knowledge.


One eagerly awaited study is a biography of James Wilson which is being prepared by William Scholes of Edinburgh.


In 1995 the editor of New Dictionary of National Biography (Oxford University Press) asked me to contribute an entry on John Baird. In going over Baird’s military records again, a fascinating new aspect presented itself. Baird had joined the 2nd Battalion, 95th Regiment of Foot (The Rifle Brigade), in June 1806. He had fought in Argentina and then in the Peninsular Campaign. After seven years, in which he had proved a good soldier, he returned to Glasgow on leave. He did not rejoin his regiment. Between June 1813 and April 1820, when he was captured after the battle at Bonnymuir, Baird was posted as a deserter. Where was he during this period? The period seems crucial to his political development and his decision to join the Radicals. I contributed an article on the subject to the Scottish Labour History Review (No. 10, Winter 1996/1997). But no further information has so far come to light.


From a suppressed piece of history, the events of 1820 have now inspired a novel, The Boys from Bonnymuir by Tom Lannon (Albyn Press, 1985), and two plays: ‘The Rising’ by Hector MacMillan (1973), and ‘Hardie and Baird – The Last Days’ by Glasgow’s Booker Prize-winning author, James Kelman (1990).


In introducing this new edition, it would be remiss of me not to record the tribute paid in 2000 to my co-author, the late Seumas Mac a’ Ghobhainn. In Spring 2000, Glasgow City Council gave permission for the erection of a bilingual memorial next to the 1820 Monument at the Sighthill Cemetery, Glasgow. It was here that Seumas’ ashes were scattered in 1987. It was a tribute to the man who had done more than most to bring this suppressed history to the attention of his fellow Scots. The unveiling of the Scottish Gaelic and English text, on the memorial raised by subscription from admirers of his work, took place on September 10 2000, before a large crowd.




A booklet on Seumus’ life and work, containing reprints of some of his articles, was published at that time – Scotland Not Only Free but Gaelic: A Tribute to Seumus Mac a’ Ghobhainn, edited by Risnidh Mag Aoidh with an introduction by Kenneth Mackinnon (Celtic Editions, Edinburgh).


In spite of the reluctance of certain scholars to accept the real significance of 1820 in Scottish history, interest in the event has continued to grow. Formal submissions have now been made to the Scottish Parliament for the erection of memorials to the executed men of 1820 to be included with those of the other prominent Scots which are to be set up within the precincts of the new Scottish Parliament building at Holyrood.
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FOREWORD


BY HUGH MACDIARMID


THE AUTHORS OF this book have done not only an excellent job but, in view of the escalation of the Scottish National Party and corresponding developments in Wales and even in Cornwall, a very timely one. The book sets out in full detail and with admirable clarity its subject, an insurrection that has up to now only been known to a few specialists. The work must be regarded as a preliminary study into the growth of Scottish national radicalism; the full story of its growth from 1790 onwards must wait the long overdue complete research into the Friends of the People Movement and, in particular, the significance of the relations between the English, Scottish and Irish elements involved.


At the time of the Spanish Civil War, I was expelled from the Communist Party of Great Britain on the grounds of ‘nationalist deviationism’, for asserting that where Scottish and Irish members of the International Brigade were brigaded together all went well, but where English members were brought together with the Scottish and Irish, trouble ensued. Subsequently, I was readmitted to the C.P.G.B. and assured that the Party had learned a great deal about the national question from me. That is as may be, but it has a great deal more to learn, and though the Scottish Secretariat of the Party has now declared itself in favour of Scottish Independence, the English, who of course represent the great majority of the Party, cannot be expected to agree. In this and all other connections R. L. Stevenson’s declaration that there are no two adjacent peoples in the world more



utterly and unalterably different than the Scots and the English is fully borne out by this book and by all similar studies covering the relations of the two countries.


While it is undoubtedly true that John MacLean was the greatest leader the working class of Scotland has yet had, and that all sorts of living currents in the movement today can be traced back to him, until recently both the Communist Party of Great Britain and the Labour Party have been content to use his name while repudiating his policy.


An element that has militated very largely against MacLean’s memory is the idea that towards the end he became mentally affected, as a result of his prison exposures. But I have letters he wrote right up to his death and these are as clear and rational as ever. In my view what finally broke him was less his admittedly great sufferings in prison than his feeling that most of his friends had repudiated his teachings and were committed to courses which must prove disastrous – as indeed they have proved.


That so great a proportion of our people know nothing of MacLean except his name – if that! – is not surprising in Scotland, where owing to the educational system scarcely anything of value in relation to our literature, history, national biography, or economic facts gets through the filter. I bracket with MacLean’s name not only the names of the pioneers and martyrs with whom this book deals but the names of John Murdoch (the crofters’ leader – MacLean’s agrarian counterpart), and John Swinton (who aided the Negroes in South Carolina before the Civil War, became a friend of Walt Whitman and knew Karl Marx) as examples of Scots who are far too little known – and yet in my opinion, of more consequence than most of those who figure prominently either in our history books or in contemporary life.


The sustained vindictiveness meted out by the Establishment to its opponents leads Philip Mairet in his book Pioneer of Sociology: The Life and Letters of Patrick Geddes, to say: ‘The worst enmities were aroused by his achievements when he had failed to move man in a



position to do what he proposed, and simply took action himself. Some of them privately hoped his schemes would miscarry, or even sought openly to obstruct them. If, nevertheless, a plan of his achieved conspicuous success, ill wishers sometimes had to bear the reproach of being asked: ‘‘Why did you not do this before? You could have done it’’, and it was this that rankled. Years after, when such resentments might well have been forgotten, they were strong enough to frustrate the efforts in Edinburgh first of a professor and later of the chancellor (Sir J. M. Barrie) to honour Geddes with an LL.D.’


This continued malevolence reminds me that a young historian of my acquaintance, researching into the life and activities of Thomas Muir, found the officials at Registry House, Edinburgh, and at the National Library of Scotland, helpful enough on the surface; but they assured him that there was nothing else in their keeping beyond what was already known and used by such historians as H. W. Meikle and George Pratt Insh. But he persisted and found a lot of material in their repositories casting new light on the whole business. He found boxes of correspondence and other invaluable material in the Kilmarnock Museum and elsewhere that had lain quite unknown to these historians. And incidentally, he found incontestable evidence that Burns, instead of going back on his own principles when he joined the Dumfries Volunteers, when the bogey of a possible French invasion was raised, simply realised that the real object of the Volunteers was to suppress any radical developments and, like other members of the Friends of the People, joined in order to infiltrate the Volunteers and frustrate the intentions of the authorities. Despite the unprecedented adulation of Burns, the devotees of Scotland’s national bard are prepared to believe that Burns (admittedly under the stress of economic circumstances) betrayed his Republican principles.


I am sure the same kind of thing is true of many issues in Scottish history. Major M. V. Hay of Seaton, in his book A Chain of Error in Scottish History, was only concerned with falsifications made for



religious sectarian reasons, but there are many such chains of error still unrevealed and of greater relevance to our affairs today. Material contrary to the official assumptions had been, and still is, carefully concealed, and those who persist in asserting this are stigmatised as of ‘the lunatic fringe’ – or, as John MacLean was and as were Fletcher of Saltoun and Lord Belhaven, opponents of the Union with England, actually ‘mental cases’!


MacLean came at the end of a long sequence of Scottish Radical and Republican thinkers. That his doctrine is, as Rudolf Bringmann, William Ferris and other writers on the Gaelic Commonwealth show, profoundly related to our hidden Gaelic traditions, and in coming to it MacLean was not the victim of a mental disequilibrium nor (as Harry Macshane suggested) merely imitative of the Irish Movement, but realising the deepest impulse of his whole nature in their final and highest form, and that so far from indicating any mental breakdown this development is in logical accord with the entire evolution of his political thought, and did not betray but crowned his career. Its relationship to all that had gone before, its consistency with his profound grasp of the whole situation in which Scotland was (and is) involved, and the forthrightness, courage, and firmness with which he crowned his stand for Scotland are in themselves enough to dispose at once of the suggestion that MacLean’s brain was in any way impaired.


This book on The Scottish Insurrection of 1820 has great value in its exposure of the use of spies and agents-provocateurs, and of the unbridled unscrupulousness of the Establishment and its readiness to manipulate the law, insisting on English law and sending police and other agents into Scotland heedless of Scottish legal rights, with the hypocritical approval of the magistracy, the landed gentry, the Church, and the other pillars of the status quo. There has been talk recently of the Welsh Republican Army (Free Wales Army) and even of something similar in Scotland, and all who imagine that wrongs can be easily righted and that any attempt to right them either by constitutional or other means will not incur like measures today as



obtained in Scotland during the trials described in this book, have the whole history of national movements and the struggles for democratic freedom against them. To be forewarned is to be forearmed, and readers of this book who are in any doubt about what is meant by the phrase ‘the full force of the law’, can hardly escape a very salutary enlightenment which will stand them in good stead if they encounter secret agents, double dealers and spies – creatures who undoubtedly infest the Scottish Movement today just as they did in the time of the Friends of the People and the United Scotsmen.





HUGH MACDIARMID


Biggar, August, 1969













1


INSURRECTION!


TWO ABREAST, THE column of sixty hussars cantered purposefully along the road to Glasgow. Despite the fact that their flamboyant blue, crimson and gold uniforms were coated with dust from a hard ride, the soldiers held themselves upright and alert in their saddles and they rode in impeccable order as if they were on a parade ground. The sun had long since disappeared behind the hills and the road was shrouded in the semigloom of early evening, causing the men of the column to cast anxious glances from under their black fur shakos at the wayside bushes and trees. Their fear of an ambush was shared by Major James Douglas, Deputy Quartermaster General of His Majesty King George IV’s Army in Scotland, a small, nervous man, riding towards the head of the column. To Douglas, this journey – which he considered a foolhardy plunge into the midst of danger – was almost as incredible as the news which had been brought to Edinburgh earlier that afternoon. Just after luncheon that day, Sunday, April 2, 1820, a despatch rider from Lt.-Colonel Northcott’s 1st Battalion of the Rifle Brigade, who were stationed in Glasgow, had arrived at Edinburgh Castle with the astonishing news that all South-West Scotland had risen in arms and that Glasgow itself was besieged by a rebel army. There had certainly been growing agitation in Scotland during the past five years among those who called themselves ‘Radical Reformers’ and there had even been talk of a general uprising in the industrial belt among the disaffected workers, particularly the weavers; but no one, as Douglas recalled, had taken the matter really seriously. Hearing the news, the Commander-in-Chief of the Army in Scotland, Major-General Sir Thomas Bradford,



K.C.B., K.T.S., had shown a great calm, or so it appeared to Douglas. He at once ordered a squadron of the 10th Hussars to saddle and mount as an escort for himself and the entire General Staff to go to Glasgow, leaving orders with the Lord Provost of Edinburgh to make preparations to secure the city from any attack in his absence.


To rush to Glasgow before ascertaining the exact extent of the uprising was, to Douglas, an enterprise lacking wisdom, and a dangerous one. Douglas was inclined to scrutinise every aspect most carefully before reaching a decision and, in this respect, he considered that the Commander-in-Chief had made a hurried and totally unwise one. The fact that Major-General Bradford and his staff were surrounded by well-trained cavalry soldiers of the line, veterans of the recent European wars, did not ease Douglas’s mind from the fear of ambush, nor did the fact that the journey from Edinburgh had revealed little sign of insurgent activity. True, however, in the numerous villages en route, crowds had jeered at the soldiers and, in Airdrie, people had even thrown stones and other missiles at the hussars who, being tough, disciplined troops, had not broken formation but, eyes front, had ridden stoically through the barrage. Just the same, Douglas had reasoned, if the rebels wanted to assassinate the Commander-in-Chief, and there seemed every reason to believe they did, the most likely place would be in the suburbs of Radical Glasgow, where the insurgents could melt away without trace into the protection of the houses.


Apprehensively Douglas peered through the dusk to Bradford’s short, thick-set figure riding immediately ahead of him, shrouded in a greatcoat to keep out the April chill. At the age of 42, Major-General Sir Thomas Bradford had managed the military affairs of Scotland since July, 1819 – less than one year. It had been a turbulent period, with plots and counter-plots for parliamentary reform among the agitators and the large body of disaffected workers, particularly in the South-West. In the North-West, in A’ Ghàidhealtachd, the Government’s policy of ‘Clearances’ was also sparking off riots and minor insurrections which kept the troops busy. It was because Scotland seemed to be on the very verge of an uprising that Bradford



had been appointed to command. In his past service, Bradford had shown a particular flair for police duties rather than military ones. During the Irish uprising of 1798 he had won such a distinction and was appointed brevet lieutenant-colonel, becoming Assistant Adjutant-General in Scotland when an uprising by the republican United Scotsmen organisation was feared. Later, fighting under Wellington, Bradford was severely wounded at the Battle of Bayonne and, in 1814, was again appointed to the staff of the C.-in-C., Scotland. Bradford had then been given command of the 7th Division of the Army of Occupation in France, 1815–17, where he had exploited his talents to the full. He was a blunt North Country man, a hard-working and proficient commander whose talents lay away from the battlefield and in the administrative side of the army. As an administrator he had, for nearly a year past, been preparing for this moment when he could move against the Radical agitators and ‘teach them a damned fine lesson’.


Riding alongside Bradford, in the reds and golds of the 7th Hussars, was the slim and elegant 44-year-old Major-General Sir Richard Hussey Vivian. Vivian, described as one of the most handsome and best cavalry officers in Europe, had been expressly sent to Scotland by the Duke of York, Commander-in-Chief of the Army, in case of disturbances. Bradford, although two years younger than Vivian, was his senior in rank by one year and Vivian was acting on his staff in an advisory capacity only. Vivian was a direct contrast to Bradford, a spirited, dashing officer – some were inclined to describe him as a ‘glory seeker’ – who had fought at Waterloo, something for which Bradford envied him, as his own brother had been killed on the field while he was recovering from his Bayonne wound. Vivian was now acclaimed as the army’s leading expert on cavalry tactics and, in 1819, he had been sent to Newcastle to advise the local military on putting down riots there by the use of cavalry. Later in 1819 he had been sent to Scotland where his old regiment, the 7th Hussars, were stationed. The Duke of York felt he had made a wise choice for, while Bradford’s administrative abilities were essential in keeping



Scotland under control, Vivian’s knowledge of battle tactics would be useful in the event of an uprising.


As the column reached the darkened streets of the outlying suburbs of Glasgow, the tension of the Hussars increased; sabres were rattled in scabbards to ensure their looseness and outriders peered cautiously ahead as if expecting to confront the entire rebel army in the darkness. The pace of the column quickened as it clattered through deserted streets to the centre of the city. All was deathly quiet. Houses were firmly shuttered and no light was visible anywhere. No sentries challenged their approach. James Douglas afterwards recalled that he felt that the column and the entire General Staff were riding into a trap.





That Sunday morning the citizens of Glasgow and the surrounding countryside had awoken in a tense, excited atmosphere, the like of which had not been felt since the start of the Rising of 1745. On the walls of houses in the streets of the city, and in the towns and villages of the counties of Dumbarton, Stirling, Renfrew, Lanark and Ayr, proclamations had been posted during the night calling the people of Scotland to rise in arms. The proclamation, signed by ‘the Committee of Organisation for forming a Provisional Government, Glasgow, 1st April, 1820’, announced the intention of the insurgents to achieve ‘Liberty or Death!’ The insurgents were going to return home having achieved ‘freedom, or return home no more’.


Just after dawn the drab streets of the suburbs and the more richly endowed squares of central Glasgow began to fill with people. It seemed that the entire 147,000 inhabitants of the city – weavers, mechanics, cotton spinners – hearing the news of the proclamation, had hurried out to read the document for themselves. Those who could not read listened with rapt attention as the more learned members of the crowd read aloud its contents:





FRIENDS AND COUNTRYMEN: – Roused from that torpid state in which We have been sunk for so many years, we are, at length, compelled,



from the extremity of our sufferings, and the contempt heaped upon our Petitions for redress, to assert our RIGHTS, at the hazard of our lives and proclaim to the world the real motives, which (if not misrepresented by designing men, would have United all ranks) have reduced us to take up ARMS for the redress of our Common Grievances.


The numerous Public Meetings held throughout the Country have demonstrated to you that the interest of all Classes are the same. That the production of the Life and Property of the Rich Man is the interest of the Poor Man, and in return, it is the interest of the Rich to protect the Poor from the iron grip of DESPOTISM, for, when its victims are exhausted in the lower circles, there is no assurance but that its ravages will be continued in the upper. For once set in motion, it will continue to move till a succession of Victims fall.


Our principles are few, and founded on the basis of our Constitution which was purchased with the DEAREST BLOOD of our ANCESTORS, and which we swear to transmit to posterity unsullied, or PERISH in the Attempt. Equality of Rights (not of Property) is the object for which we contend, and which we consider as the only security for our LIBERTIES and LIVES.


Let us show to the world that We are not that Lawless sanguinary Rabble which Our Oppressors would persuade the higher circles we are – but a BRAVE and GENEROUS PEOPLE, determined to be FREE. LIBERTY or DEATH is our Motto, and We have sworn to return home in triumph – or return no more!


SOLDIERS: … come forward then, at once, and Free your Country …


FRIENDS AND COUNTRYMEN: … come forward, then, and assist those who have begun the completion of so arduous a task, and support the laudable efforts which we are about to make …


Owing to the misrepresentations which have gone abroad with regard to our intentions, we think it indispensably necessary to DECLARE inviolable all Public and Private Property. And, we hereby call upon all JUSTICES of the PEACE, and all others to suppress PILLAGE and PLUNDER, of every description; and to endeavour to secure those



Guilty of such offences, that they may receive that Punishment which such violation of Justice demands.


In the present state of affairs, and during the continuation of so momentous a struggle, we earnestly request all to desist from their labour from and after this day, the First of April, and attend wholly to the recovery of their Rights and consider it as the duty of every man not to recommence until he is in possession of those Rights which distinguishes the FREEMEN from the SLAVES: viz: That of giving consent to the laws by which he is governed. We, therefore, recommend to the Proprietors of Public Works, and all others, to Stop the one, and Shut up the other, until order is restored, as We will be accountable for no damages which may be sustained; and which after this Public Intimation, they can have no claim to.


And We hereby give notice to all those who shall be found carrying arms against those who intend to regenerate their Country, and restore its INHABITANTS to their NATIVE DIGNITY; We shall consider them as TRAITORS to their Country, and ENEMIES to their King, and treat them as such.





By order of the Committee of Organisation for forming a PROVISIONAL GOVERNMENT, Glasgow, 1st April, 1820.





A footnote to this rather tedious proclamation added:





The wishes of all good men are with us. Join together and make it one Cause, and the Nations of the Earth shall hail the day when the Standard of Liberty shall be raised on its Native Soil!





Groups began to form on street corners, growing into mobs which taunted and jeered at any passing soldier or well-dressed gentleman. Stones and other missiles were thrown and a number of prominent citizens only just managed to escape from the rage of the mobs with cuts and bruises. The Glasgow police force seemed little inclined to try and tackle the mobs roaming the streets. In fact, of all



the officials in Glasgow that day, Captain James Mitchell, the police commandant (‘the tallest master of police we ever saw’), was the least surprised at the rising. For some days past he had been kept informed by his agents that the proclamation was to be posted. He had risen early that Sunday morning and was engaged in mustering his eighty-to ninety-strong police force and organising a duty roster. He was little concerned with the antics of the crowd; what concerned him more was the preparation of raids on the homes of leading Radicals.


The military in the city also stood impassively by as the mobs rampaged through the more select quarters of Glasgow. They were acting under direct orders not to attempt to interfere with the people except in self-defence or to save property from destruction. The senior ranking officer in the Glasgow area, Lt.-Colonel Northcott of the 1st Battalion of the Rifle Brigade, was a wary man who had no wish to precipitate another ‘Peterloo’ incident (when the military had fired on unarmed Radicals attending a meeting in 1819 at Manchester), unless acting under orders from his superiors. Northcott’s immediate action on seeing the proclamation had been to issue despatches requesting all available troops to converge on Glasgow. He had also sent a despatch rider post haste to Edinburgh bearing the news to Bradford.


Northcott then gave his mind to how best he could secure Glasgow from attack. He had ridden to 44 Bell Street where Samuel Hunter ran Glasgow’s Tory newspaper, the Glasgow Herald. But it was not as editor of the Herald that Northcott sought to consult Hunter, for the 51-year-old, 18 stone, Glasgow dignitary was also the colonel commanding the Glasgow Yeomanry forces. Hunter had long prophesied trouble from the ‘lower orders’ in the city and felt that the disaffection could be laid at the doors of Glasgow’s 15,000 Irish inhabitants, most of whom had flooded into Scotland after the abortive risings of 1798 and 1803 when there had been attempts to set up an independent Irish Republic. ‘Once a rebel, always a rebel’, was Hunter’s opinion. Hunter had conceived almost a fanatical hatred of the Irish since his service in Ireland in the military during



the ’98 Rising. It was certainly true that many Irishmen had, in fact, joined Scottish revolutionary movements and the organisation of the republican United Irishmen had been duplicated by the United Scotsmen organisation, which was still in existence in 1802 but whose efforts to establish a Scottish Republic had ended with an abortive rising, mainly confined to Perthshire in 1797.


Reading the proclamation, Hunter made a mental note for the editorial leader which he was to write in his newspaper the next day. He noticed that in one paragraph the proclamation referred to Magna Carta and the Bill of Rights, which were not part of Scottish history. To Hunter this seemed to suggest that the author was an Englishman, because a Scot would naturally refer to the Declaration of Arbroath in place of the English Magna Carta. As later events were to show, this was a highly significant fact.


After some discussion Hunter and Northcott agreed that it was not immediately necessary to mobilise the entire force of the Glasgow Yeomanry (which consisted of 1,015 enlisted men, 37 commissioned officers and 78 non-commissioned officers). A current rumour had it that the actual signal for the rising was to be the stopping of the London–Glasgow Royal Mail coach which was due to arrive at Glasgow Post Office in Nelson Street at 5 a.m. the next day. Already, Dugald Bannatyne, the Postmaster of Glasgow, had been to see the Hon. Henry Monteith, Lord Provost of the city, to request that cavalry meet the coach as a means of protection after its three-day journey from London. Hunter decided on the full mobilisation of the Yeomanry forces at 4.30 a.m. the next day and, in the meantime, gave orders to his second-in-command, Robert Douglas Alston, to assemble Captain Smith’s company of sharpshooters. These were ordered to take up positions in the Royal Bank, Queen Street. Hunter assumed that the Royal Bank, the city’s treasury, would be the first object of a Radical attack on the city. It was generally supposed that the Radicals would try to seize money to pay their men and to buy arms. All the local banks, under the direction of Northcott, immediately sent the money they held to the central Royal Bank for safe-keeping.




James Jones, the Corps Adjutant, was ordered to issue Smith’s men with twenty rounds of ball cartridge apiece. Jones, an Argyll man, was eager for action. Formerly a lieutenant in the Royal Marines, he had served aboard the English frigate HMS Shannon in its famous battle with the USS Chesapeake and had been the first man to board the Chesapeake and take the sword of surrender from her captain. It was this sword which Jones buckled on to his Yeomanry uniform that Sunday morning as he directed the fortification of the Royal Bank.


The barricading of the Royal Bank seemed to strike the reality of the situation into most ‘well-disposed’ citizens, who immediately retired to their homes and barricaded themselves inside. Fear of an immediate Radical attack began to spread among the authorities. One old magistrate bade farewell to his son, one of Smith’s men guarding the bank, with tears in his eyes, crying he would never see his boy again. The Royal Bank, now barricaded and guarded by the Yeomanry in their green and white uniforms, became a central point for the roaming crowds who stood peering through the tall railing which surrounded the grounds of the building, jeering at the soldiers.


Northcott ordered cannons to be set up on every bridge across the Clyde in order to stop any Radical troops moving into the centre of the city. His main concern was to find out the position of the Radical Army, their strength and intentions. A sergeant of the Glasgow Yeomanry, which Hunter called his Glasgow Sharpshooters, wrote afterwards:





I went to the Coffee Room [at Tontine] and found everything in a bustle there. It was concerned that matters were now brought to a crisis and the interesting questions became what was the amount of arms in possession of the rebellious as there would be no doubt in this district of their intentions to obey the appeal.





But the question which was uppermost in the mind of the Rev. Dr Chalmers, conducting the Sunday morning service in his new



church of St John’s, Gallowgate, was how could a bloody civil war in Scotland be averted. Chalmers was an outspoken Parliamentary Reformer and a frequent contributor to the Edinburgh Review, the Whig-Reform journal, but reform by violence was not his creed. Chalmers offered up a prayer for the safety of the city:





O mighty Lord, and Governor of the Universe! preserve this Kingdom, we humbly beseech thee, from the horror of civil war, apparently approaching us in this city. Keep us ever in thy fear; and fit us for all our duties, temporal and eternal.





Prayers were far from the mind of James Hardie, a Glasgow Justice of the Peace, as he walked through the streets that morning carefully noting the location of the proclamations and the crowd’s reactions to them. One group that particularly caught his attention was gathered round a watchman’s box in Duke Street, where one of the proclamations had been posted. An active anti-reformer, James Hardie began to jostle his way through the crowd to tear down the broadsheet, but three or four men stopped him. One of them was a 26-year-old weaver named Andrew Hardie, who lived with his parents in the High Street, a few streets away. An ex-soldier, and a member of the Castle Street Radical Union Society, Andrew Hardie’s passions had been inflamed by the call to arms, as had many others who held Radical convictions. He pushed the officious justice back from the watchman’s box so that the man stumbled and almost fell over the curb of the pavement. Recovering his balance, James Hardie ordered the notice to be taken down.


‘Where is your authority?’ jeered the young weaver.


‘There are plenty here who know me for a justice,’ exclaimed James Hardie. But the crowd, clearly against the authorities, only jeered and catcalled.


‘Before I permit you to take down yon notice,’ said the young weaver, placing himself in the path of the justice, ‘I will part with the last drop of my blood!’ It was a brave speech and the crowd cheered



delightedly. But the words were to cost the 26-year-old weaver his life.


Among the crowd who witnessed the incident was John Stirling, a surgeon, also an anti-Radical and known to Andrew Hardie as a friend of the justice. The weaver turned on Stirling and accused him of bringing the justice to the spot and spying on the Radicals. Stirling and the justice retreated before the hostile crowd, who then turned their attention to the proclamation again. The whole scene had been observed by Hugh Macphunn, a clerk to the firm of Messrs. Denniston & Co., Glasgow, who afterwards claimed that he had carefully noted the behaviour of the young Glasgow weaver and his evidence was instrumental in tightening the noose round the young man’s neck.


Another young man out in the streets that day and eager for the rising to begin was Robert F. Fulton, an apprentice printer who woke at mid-day, ate a hurried meal and hurried out into the streets in a state of great excitement. For Fulton, Saturday had been a busy day. He had been at work until midnight with his fellow apprentice, John Hutchison, in the shop of their employer, Duncan MacKenzie, at 20 Saltmarket, turning out copies of the Radical proclamation. Just before midnight a man called Lees, who described himself as a representative of the Provisional Government, had called at the shop. It had been Lees who commissioned Fulton, a Radical sympathiser, to print the proclamation of the rising. Lees collected a parcel of proclamations and told Fulton that he would see him later in the Globe Tavern. Half an hour later Fulton had entered the Globe and saw Lees with a woman introduced to him as Mrs Lees, and a man called John Craig, a weaver from Lancefield, Anderston, who was also known to Fulton as a representative of the Provisional Government. They all had a drink together and Fulton received seventeen shillings as the second payment for printing the proclamation. Fulton had then gone home to bed and, tired with the arduous work, had slept in late. Now the day had dawned and Fulton, a Radical idealist, was eager to take his part in the uprising.




But there was to be no Radical uprising in Glasgow that day, for the Radicals were confining their activities to spreading copies of the proclamation in the industrial belt of Scotland. The centre of the Radical activity was the house of a man called John King, who lived in the city’s suburbs. King called himself a weaver but did not appear to pursue any particular occupation and always seemed to be in pocket. There had been a meeting of Glasgow Radicals in a house in George Street late on Saturday night at which Duncan Turner, a tinsmith, who also described himself as an emissary of the Provisional Government, had attended. When the meeting finished, Turner took aside William Robertson and Andrew Wilson, two staunch Radicals, and asked them to accompany him to King’s house where, he said, they would receive orders. They reached the house at 1 a.m. To Robertson’s surprise, the lights were blazing and the windows were uncovered. The place was visible for miles. Inside were a great many people arranging muskets, pikes and gunpowder. A pile of proclamations lay on a table. King and his wife were plying the company with whisky and talking of the ‘great and glorious’ acts that were soon to take place in the fight for liberty. King told them he had just come from the Provisional Government, ‘all men of rank and talent’. He assured them that he had heard it positively stated that George Kinloch of Kinloch, the Radical leader who had fled abroad the previous year before the authorities could serve a warrant for his arrest on a charge of sedition, had landed with a large force of expatriate Scottish troops from France. Also, Marshal MacDonald, one of Napoleon’s greatest generals, son of Neil MacEachain of the MacDonald clan, the Jacobite school-teacher who had accompanied Prince Charles Edward on his flight to Skye and eventual exile after the ’45 Rising, was also coming to Scotland with 5,000 troops.


Duncan Turner took some of the proclamations to post through the city and left King’s house at 2 a.m. But en route he called on a man, also named King, living near Jamaica Street and gave him a copy of the proclamation. King gave Turner a golden guinea. Treachery was at work among the Radical forces, for King,



previously an under clerk in the Council Chambers of Glasgow, was now a law agent.


At mid-day on Sunday, a dragoon from Hamilton galloped into the town of Ayr with the news. He brought Northcott’s message to the officer commanding, asking for all available troops to be sent to the Glasgow area. The church bells were rung in alarm, drums beat to quarters and congregations spilled from the mid-day services. The two squadrons of dragoons, stationed in Ayr, trotted out of the town at 4 p.m. with drawn swords resting against their shoulders.


The 400-strong 4th Royal Veteran Battalion, stationed permanently at Ayr Barracks, were called out in marching order and left in wake of the dragoons. Shortly afterwards a troop of the Ayrshire Yeomanry (nicknamed the ‘Dandies’) was ordered to muster in Academy Square. They looked every inch ‘Dandies’, in their blue single-breasted coats, white drill trousers and Glengarry bonnets. Their commanding officer, Major Campbell of Thornflat, conferred with the town magistrates. It was decided that the ‘Dandies’ would hold themselves responsible for the peace and fortification of the town.


In the meantime a messenger was sent to Alexander Boswell, the eldest son of the biographer of Dr Johnson, at his house at Auchinleck. Boswell was the colonel commanding the Ayrshire Yeomanry Cavalry, the biggest militia force in Scotland, which consisted of three full regiments. Like James Boswell, his son Alexander was something of a writer and poet but his interests were mainly in politics and, as Tory M.P. for Plympton, he had vowed that he would ‘ride in Radical blood up to his bridle reins!’ As commander of the only military force now left in Ayr, Boswell decided to leave Campbell’s men standing under arms in the town and ordered the mobilisation of the entire Ayrshire Yeomanry forces for the next day. He scribbled the following order:


Auchinleck


The commanding officer having received a sudden order to call out the corps under his command, however much he regrets the



inconvenient time, he relies on the spirit of all individuals, and that every man will turn out in this emergency to put down those who render property and everything valuable to man, insecure; all that can be wished is, that by one well directed effort, we may be spared further annoyance. The first and third troops will assemble tomorrow at twelve noon o’clock in Ayr, in marching order, with necessaries. The second troop, in like order at the same hour, in Mauchline. The fourth troop, at the same hour, in like order, at Kilmarnock.


Alex Boswell, Lt.-Colonel Commandant





His second-in-command, Major Ferrier Hamilton, issued similar orders to the Second Corps of the regiment and soon the Yeomanry were converging on their rallying points from all over the county.


For John Parkhill of Maxwellton, near Paisley, who had been appointed Commissary-General of the Paisley Radical Contingent, Sunday passed off in a fairly quiet way. On Saturday evening John Neil, who had been one of the Scottish ambassadors to the English Radical meetings in Nottingham, called on Parkhill and showed him a copy of the proclamation. Parkhill felt the document was ‘exceedingly well drawn up’.


Considerable crowds had started to gather in Paisley at 7 a.m. to view the proclamation. Parkhill, Neil and other Paisley leaders met with Daniel Bell, a five-foot-tall ex-officer’s batman, who had been appointed commandant of the Paisley Radicals. They were undecided what to do, for no news or orders from the Provisional Government in Glasgow had been received. It was decided to hold a full meeting of the Paisley Radicals the following forenoon at the ‘Smiddy’, a special weaver’s shop in Maxwellton Street where the Radicals held their meetings.


At two o’clock on Sunday afternoon, Parkhill went to a public house called The Linn, a Radical rendezvous on the corner of Broomlands and the south-east end of King Street, owned by Granny Rowan. It was called ‘The Linn’ because players of hurling (‘Heigh



Linn’) usually gathered there. There Parkhill met a friend from Dalry, who had served in the Foot Guards, and who was ‘mad because there was no fighting’.


Parkhill wrote in his autobiography:





In the afternoon and evening, a more than usual turnout of the inhabitants might be noticed, together with many from the country. There was little preparation, however, for war, further than a few most sanguine carrying a pistol or a gun or enquiring if there was any news from Glasgow. After nightfall the cavalry and infantry were much engaged in showing themselves in various parts of the town in preparation for tomorrow’s struggle.





The cavalry mentioned by Parkhill was a troop of the 10th Hussars who had arrived in the late evening from Irvine and these had been followed by a second troop of the same regiment from Ayshire.


Early Sunday morning John Fraser, the schoolmaster of Johnstone, near Paisley, walked over the hills to Kilbarchan, bearing with him a copy of the proclamation to show his friend Duncan MacIntyre. The previous day, two men had called to see Fraser. They were John Dunlop, a Collier Street weaver, ‘a most respectable and intelligent man’, and James Speirs, also a weaver, ‘a quiet, sensible man’, who had served in a militia regiment. The two men had called upon the schoolmaster to ask him to copy a letter for them. The letter was addressed to Rev. Alexander Telfer and Rev. Clapperton, local clergymen, informing them of the proposed rising and asking them to warn their congregations to act peacefully and submit to the Radical forces and that no injury would be done to their persons or property.


Fraser, perhaps unwisely, had done this. Later that day, about 11 p.m., while he was standing outside the door of his father’s drug shop, Speirs had come by and, in a state of great excitement, had shown Fraser a copy of the proclamation. Fraser had taken this copy and hurried to his friend William Reid, a china merchant who was



also a Radical. Finally he had returned home, confided the news to his wife Marjorie and retired to bed in anticipation of the next day’s events.


He arrived at his friend MacIntyre’s house early, and immediately showed him the proclamation. While they were discussing it a friend, John Lang, called and he, too, was shown the document. Fraser then returned home and went on to attend the mid-morning church service. While he was at church James Speirs called upon his wife and urged her to ‘put it [the proclamation] out of the way’ in case of a raid by the military. But for Fraser, and the rest of the population at Johnstone, the day passed by quietly.


It was much the same story at Strathaven where John Stevenson and Robert Hamilton, who had collected 200 copies of the proclamation from King’s house in Glasgow on Saturday night, had been posting up the notices in the village during the early hours of the morning. According to Stevenson, ‘a considerable deal of bustle and excitement ensued’ but nothing untoward happened.


At Girvan, a small village on the Ayrshire coast, reputed to be one of the strongholds of the Radicals, the situation was more electric. Mr Fergusson of Crosshill took immediate charge of matters and ordered all law enforcement officers into the town with their arms. Fergusson then ordered the church bells of the parish to be rung to convene the people of Girvan. The villagers crowded into the church while Fergusson told them the proclamation was an act of rebellion and treason. He declared a curfew starting at 9 p.m.


The law officers were then organised in parties to arrest prominent Radical leaders in Girvan and district. Innkeepers were told to report all strangers entering their hostelries with the warning that if they failed to do so their licences would be taken away from them.


The capital city of Edinburgh was stunned by the news from Glasgow. Although in December, 1819, there had been a stand-to alert in expectation of an insurrection, no one had really thought it would have happened. After all, the military in Scotland were far too strong and would outnumber any force the Radicals could possibly



throw against them. But now the news was that a Radical army was laying waste the South-West and marching on the city. Making matters worse in people’s minds was the fact that Major-General Bradford had left the capital post haste with his staff and an escort of hussars, in the direction of Glasgow, as soon as the news had arrived. The Lord Advocate, Sir William Rae, had given orders to the military in the area to be mobilised.


Henry Cockburn, a Whig-Reformist lawyer, though inclined to run with the hare and hunt with the hounds, was a captain in the Edinburgh Armed Association commanded by Sir James Fergusson of Kilkerran. Cockburn received orders to report to the Edinburgh Assembly Rooms at 8 p.m. fully equipped and armed. Here he found between 400 and 500 of the militia under arms. They waited until 10 p.m., when the Lord Provost of Edinburgh arrived and told them they could be dismissed as the Yeomanry regiments were now alerted and the line regiments were already mobilised to guard the city from attack.


At the same time as the Edinburgh Armed Association were being dismissed, Major-General Bradford and his escort were entering the suburbs of Glasgow. Unknown to them they were in the gun sights of two score or more muskets held by men of the Rifle Brigade and 13th Regiment of Foot. In the darkness the nervous soldiers had mistaken them for a column of Radicals and an eager young officer was about to give the order to fire when the mistake was realised. The General and his staff were conducted to the Star Hotel, at the top of Glassford Street. The weary soldiers were shown to their rooms by the inn’s tenant, Mrs Younghusband, ‘a small, pretty little lady’ with an only daughter but seemingly no husband.


Immediately after their arrival Colonel Northcott, Samuel Hunter and the Hon. Henry Monteith, the Lord Provost, called on Bradford to discuss the situation. The Lord Provost, magistrates, town clerk and fiscal, had set up the civil administration headquarters in Peter Jardine’s hotel, Buck’s Hotel, in Argyll Street, not far away. Between the two hotels was the Black Bull, which the Lord Provost had



commandeered as a headquarters for the officers of the Yeomanry regiments.


It was felt that any trouble would begin at dawn the next morning and Bradford and Monteith decided to issue a joint proclamation warning the citizens of Glasgow what lay in store for them should they answer the Radical call.





WHEREAS, we have observed with much surprise and concern, a highly SEDITIOUS and TREASONABLE PRINTED PAPER, posted up this morning, not only throughout the City, but in numerous places in the Suburbs … which is obviously a declaration of immediately intended hostility to the Government and Constitution of this country; We hereby once more give Notice, that all attempts which shall be made to follow up the inflammatory spirit and treasonable objects of the Address, will be instantly resisted by the Civil Powers, aided by the strong Military Force placed at their disposal, and that all measures by assemblages of people in prosecution of such designs, will be regarded as an insurrection against the Government, and instantly put down by the most prompt Military Execution.


AND WHEREAS: we have been informed that it is the intention of those who have issued the foresaid Address to bring in bodies of Men from the Country in furtherance of their traitorous purposes, We hereby warn all such persons to abstain from being led away to their own hazard, and the imminent danger of their lives. And we again warn the loyal and well disposed Inhabitants of this City and Suburbs, in the event of any Rising, as is threatened, shall take place to keep themselves and their families within doors, and on no account to mingle with those who shall be actually violating the Laws of the Country.


Glasgow 2nd April, 1820





Following the issue of the proclamation there was nothing left for the authorities to do but wait for the morning and the first move of the insurgents.




What the Radical forces, preparing to answer the call of their ‘Provisional Government’, did not know was that the twenty-eight-man Provisional Government were in Glasgow Jail and, in fact, had been there since March 21st, when they had all been arrested at a meeting in the Gallowgate; that the proclamation calling for the rising was the work of Government agents who, having infiltrated the Scottish Radical organisation and knowing of its weakness as an armed force, were precipitating the rising in order that superior Government forces could quell the insurrection and bring the Radicals to heel by a lesson underlined with military defeat, trials for high treason and executions.
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